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ABSTRACT 

In the first few decades of the twentieth century, American culture changed 

drastically from the traditional agricultural culture that had sustained it for a century to 

one that was modern and revolved around the urban landscape, consumer culture, and 

manufacturing.  In this thesis I explore this change in American culture through the life of 

August Becker, son of a rural German immigrant who chose a life of crime instead of 

staying in rural Iowa.  His life choices are the lens used to explore the changes in 

American culture through the first decades of the twentieth century. 
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INTRODUCTION 

In 1900 another baby boy was born to Katherine and Conrad Becker in the rural 

community of Buck Creek, Iowa.  They named him August and he joined a family of 

twelve growing up on the family farm.  Hundreds of babies were born in northeast Iowa 

that year, and none figured prominently in the country or in the world.  Not even little 

Gus as he would be known.  But his life represents a glimpse into the changing landscape 

of American culture during the first decades of the twentieth century.  Not every 

American’s name is mentioned in a history book, but every American’s story is 

significant in its own way.  The story of America is more than just the story of prominent 

men and women whose names are recorded in the annals of history.  The story of 

America is told through every American who lives and dies on American soil.  It is told 

through their tragedies and their triumphs, through their loves and their losses, through 

their passions and the sundry day to day chores that we all must face.  It is told through 

every visitor who has been touched by the unique culture the American melting pot has 

produced.  Gus Becker joins the millions of Americans who anonymously march through 

time striving to achieve their unique dreams and goals.  Every single one of those lives 

and dreams have a story and have helped to create America.  This is the story of the farm 

versus the city, of the traditional versus the modern.  This is Gus’s story.   
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CHAPTER 1 

AMERICA THE BEAUTIFUL 

Beginning in the eighteenth century America waged unrelenting war against the 

Native Americans who inhabited its most Western states for the next one hundred and 

seventy-five years, completely annihilating some tribes and pushing the rest onto small 

reservations; leaving the majority of the land available for white men and women who 

were willing to improve it by the late eighteenth century.  The American West was wide 

open and represented freedom and autonomy.  Many believed that a man could own his 

own land and build a farm and a life for his family with just the sweat of his brow.  In 

1870, The Iowa Board of Immigration published a pamphlet entitled “Iowa: The Home 

for Immigrants” in English, Swedish, Dutch, German, and Danish to entice those looking 

for the freedom of land ownership.1  Immigrants from Northern Europe poured into 

America looking for opportunities of land ownership and autonomous family farms.  

After a quick stop in Chicago or the larger cities strung down the Eastern seaboard, most 

of the northern European immigrants headed to the sparsely populated states west of the 

Mississippi river and established farms and homogenous rural communities that carried 

on the traditional culture of their homelands. 

 By the turn of the century the bucolic American ideal of independent farmers and 

landowners was rapidly disintegrating. The land west of the Mississippi river had been 

                                                            
1  Stephen J. Frese “Divided by a Common Language: The Babel Proclamation and 
its Influence in Iowa History,” The History Teacher 39/1(2005): 59-88. 
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tamed and was now in the hands of private citizens.  The days of open farmland available 

to anyone willing to improve it were gone.  At the same time immigration accelerated 

sharply; 15 million immigrants arrived in the US between 1900 and 1915 which was 

about equal to the number who had arrived in the previous forty years combined.2  

Additionally, these immigrants were not the rural Northern European farmers that had 

most recently sought out their fortunes on American soil.  The new immigrants to 

America hailed from Southern European countries like Italy and Greece and settled in 

American cities instead of seeking out the agricultural opportunities of rural America.  

Ghettos sprung up in New York and other major cities along the Eastern seacoast that 

consisted of several blocks of lower income homes and tenements that were mainly 

comprised of a single ethnic group.   Like the Northern European immigrants before 

them, they continued to keep their native cultures alive; but they did so within the 

confines of the city instead of seeking out the farmland of the American west. 

More and more American were living in cities.  Between 1899 and 1908 34% of 

American were employed in agriculture, by 1919 that number had dropped to 24%, and 

would continue to drop drastically throughout the period; by 1939 only 13% of 

Americans were working in agriculture.3  To make a living and support a family, a large 

percentage of Americans began to work in the booming field of manufacturing. 

                                                            
2  Library of Congress Immigrants in the Progressive Era retrieved from  
http://www.loc.gov/ (1999) 

 
3  Sean D. Cashman, America in the Age of the Titans.  (New York: New York 
University Press, 1988), 10-12. 
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Previously, goods were manufactured individually by craftsman who took pride in 

their work.  With the dawn of the industrial revolution and advances in manufacturing 

like standardization, interchangeable parts, and the ubiquitous assembly line, goods could 

be manufactured more quickly and cheaply using unskilled laborers versus highly skilled 

craftsmen.  The advances in manufacturing were staggering.  For example, a man 

working in 1781 could produce one pair of shoes in four days; in contrast a man working 

in 1925 could produce ten pairs of shoes in just one day.4  The laborers were just as 

interchangeable as the parts they created and assembled and were treated as such.   

Working conditions were dangerous, and the pay was low.    

The goods that were being churned out of American factories not only needed 

cheap and interchangeable labor to create the products, they also needed a ready and 

willing buyer.  Marketing and advertising became big business in their own right.  The 

growth of advertising was as staggering as the growth of production:  in 1880 American 

manufacturers spent a total of $30 million on advertising, by 1910 that number had 

jumped to $600 million.5   In order to effectively market all of the new products that 

American industry was producing, advertisers began to shape and create a new culture of 

desire and acquisition.  The successful American no longer owned land but things.  As 

Jim Potter declared in The American History Between the World Wars (1974) “the bread 

                                                            
4  Cashman, America in the Age of the Titans, 22-23. 
 
5  William Leach, Land of Desire Merchants, Power, and the Rise of a New 
American Culture.  (New York: First Vintage Books, 1993), 154. 
 



5 
 

and butter problems of survival of earlier decades were now replaced for a majority by 

the pursuit of happiness in the form of the traditional minority pursuits of wine, women, 

and song.”6  Advertisements sold style and promoted desire.  Americans needed their 

products in order to attain happiness.  Self-fulfillment could no longer be attained by hard 

work and moral living, but by acquiring an array of products. Success was no longer 

defined by character, but by possessions.  

The entertainment industry further promoted the idea that consumption was the 

key to happiness.  One of the most popular genre in Hollywood was the gangster movie.  

The majority of these movies followed the life of a poor but moral boy who is dissatisfied 

with his life.  In his pursuit of a better life he comes in contact with gangsters who teach 

him how to steal and cheat his way to prosperity.  He achieves success and social 

mobility through the back door of criminal behavior but his method is immaterial, the 

fact remains that he achieved.  The new American gangster differed from the outlaws of 

previous years by their luxurious lifestyle.  Desperados like Billy the Kid and Jesse James 

lived in the saddle with only the clothes on their back and were part of the vast untamed 

landscape of the West.  They were hard men who lived in hard times.  In contrast, the 

new gangster was from the city.  He was a flashy dresser with polished shoes and a 

pinstriped suit.  He drove a fast car and lived in a big beautiful mansion or an ultra-

modern penthouse.  He had impeccable manners and was always suave and sophisticated.  

                                                            
6  Sean D. Cashman, America in the Twenties and Thirties.  (New York: New York  
University Press, 1989), 41-42. 
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He acquired the façade of society along with the rest of his possessions that proved he 

had made it.  The gangster was always recognized by his style and opulence, whether on 

the big screen or in the lurid tales published in the newspapers.7   

While the new American culture of consumption and style was created and 

nurtured in the city, rural America was no longer isolated from their urban neighbors.  

Advances in printing assured that even the most rural populations had access to 

newspapers.  And due to advances in communications rural newspapers were able to 

report national news in a much timelier manner than ever before.  Rural publications like 

the Waverly Democrat and the Sumner Gazette carried stories of national importance like 

the sinking of the Titanic alongside stories of local importance that told of weddings, 

funerals, visits, and other events of everyday life.    

In the first years of white settlement west of the Mississippi river it could take up 

to 3 months for news of national importance to reach rural populations, and once a family 

set out in a covered wagon headed west the family and friends they left behind 

understood that they would most likely never see their loved ones again.  But in 1869 the 

Union and Central Pacific Railroads met in Promontory Point, Utah and within the course 

of the next few decades America was connected by a fast and reliable transportation 

source for goods, people, and information.  Additional lines were rapidly added 

connecting every part of America and Americans were able to travel about their vast 

country with much more ease and regularity, bringing new ideas and culture with them.  

                                                            
7   David E. Ruth, Inventing the Public Enemy.  (Chicago: The University of Chicago  
Press, 1996), 64-65. 
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For the first time in the history of America, people had greater access to a variety of 

lifestyles and cultures that was previously unavailable.  

The America at the turn of the century was a very different place than the 

America of just a few decades before.  The change in immigration patterns, the rise of 

industry, the gains in agriculture, and the advances in sharing information all contributed 

to change society and American culture more rapidly than any other time in history.   
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CHAPTER 2 

GUS BECKER OF BUCK CREEK 

 August Becker, nicknamed Gus or Auggie, was born June 17, 1900 to Katherine 

and Conrad Becker in rural Bremer County, Iowa.  The Becker family consisted of ten 

children; Emma (1882), William (1884), Anna (1885), Alma (1888), Sarah (1890), 

Louise (1894), Conrad (1896), Lena (1898), August (1900), and finally Henry (1904) 

(Figure 1).   

Both Conrad and Catherine had emigrated from the Mecklenburg-Schwerin area 

of Germany as children; Conrad in 1867 at the age of 13 and Catherine in 1869 when she 

was 9.  The Becker and Buhr families were part of a large migration of German peoples 

to America that began about 1850 and lasted until the early 1910’s.  The German 

immigrants were usually skilled in a trade or in agriculture and were drawn to the newly 

settled west instead of the more densely populated urban areas of the Northeast.   

The first white settlers had arrived in Bremer County in 1845 when the land was 

inhabited by Winnebago, Meskwaki, and Potawatomie Native Americans.  By 1848 an 

attachment of American troops from Fort Atkinson were called to clear out the Native 

Americans; moving them North of St. Paul Minnesota on the Crow River Reservation.  

After the removal of the Native Americans white settlers streamed into Bremer County at 

a rapid pace, lured by the rich dark soil and abundant water and woodlands.  The majority 
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of the settlers in the area were either the children of German immigrants, or had 

emigrated from Germany themselves (Figure 6).1  

Conrad and Catherine married March 31, 1881 in the small rural Buck Creek 

German Lutheran Church.  The ceremony was conducted in the German language of the 

Mecklenburg-Schwerin area, as were all church functions until 1941.  They settled a few 

miles from Buck Creek along the banks of the Wapsie River in the Spring Fountain area 

of Dayton Township.  Dayton Township was exclusively a rural area with the exception 

of the tiny village of Buck Creek.   In 1882 Buck Creek was described as “A country 

settlement in the eastern central part of Bremer County, 18 miles from Waverly, and 7 

south of Sumner, on the D. & D. R.R. [a railroad line]”…  The community included a 

carpenter, a justice, a saloon, a wagon maker, a sawmill, a grocer, a shoemaker and a 

blacksmith.  The majority of Dayton township residents are German immigrants or the 

children of German immigrants.2 

 The Beckers, like their neighbors, clung to the culture, language, and values they 

had brought with them from Mecklenburg-Schwerin.  At home the entire family 

exclusively spoke the German language of the Meckenburg-Schwerin area. The younger 

generations did learn English, but their parents refused to learn and also refused to allow 

                                                            
1  Union Publishing Company History of Butler And Bremer Counties,  
Iowa:  Together With ... Biographies of Representative Citizens. History of Iowa  
 (Springfield, Ill.: Union Publishing Company, 1883). 75-78. 
 
2  J.F. Grawe, History of Bremer County, Iowa. (Chicago: SJ Clarke Publishing Co,  
1914), 134-135. 
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it to be spoken in their home.  The Beckers were not alone in their adherence to their 

native culture and language.  In 1917 with the onset of the war with Germany, the Iowa 

state Council of Defense resolved “that the public schools of Iowa, supported by public 

taxation, should discontinue the teaching of the German language … in the interest of 

harmonizing and bringing our people together with a common language, believing thus 

they would act more patriotically and more essentially with a common purpose.”3  This 

legislation, called the Babel Proclamation, was just one of the many examples of anti-

German sentiments that were becoming widespread in Iowa cloaked in the guise of 

patriotism.  While Germany’s attack and sinking of the Lusitania was the main cause of 

the anti-German sentiment across America, the German-American’s perceived resistance 

to acclimation into American culture also played a part. 

 Although anti-immigrant sentiment was not secluded to the state of Iowa, Iowa 

was the only state to outlaw the public use of all foreign languages, and it was clear that 

the Germans were the main target of the legislation. 4  Due to aggressive recruiting of 

German farmers just a few decades before, German immigrants were present in all 99 

counties and were by far the largest immigrant group in Iowa.  Once the proclamation 

was in place German language teachers were let go and German textbooks were 

destroyed.  After the German language was eradicated from public schools the Iowa 

                                                            
3  Frese, “Divided by a Common Language” The History Teacher 39/1, (2005): 59-
88. 

  
4  Frese, “Divided by a Common Language” The History Teacher 39/1, (2005): 59-
88. 
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government next targeted private parochial schools that were instrumental in continuing 

the German language and culture for the younger generations.5  The Iowa State Council 

on Defense did not just target the educational system, it was also suspicious of any 

business or community that retained traditional German influences.  For example, the 

German Savings Bank in Tripoli, located just five miles from the Becker farm, was 

brought to the attention of the Council in 1918.  “Enclosed [is] a draft on the German 

Savings Bank of Tripoli … You will notice … the German Coat of Arms on the face of 

it.  It seems an awfully strange thing that a bank in this country can put out a check with 

the German Coat of Arms on it and go unmolested.”6  In response, the secretary of the 

council promised quick action and later that year the German Savings Bank of Tripoli, 

Iowa became the American Savings Bank.7 

 The aggressive nature of the Iowa government against the German language is 

indicative of the nature of the German immigrants in the state.  If the German immigrants 

had been willing to embrace American culture and language, they would not have been 

persecuted.  But their choice to live in tight knit communities that were intrinsically 

German made them a target. 

                                                            
5  Frese, “Divided by a Common Language” The History Teacher 39/1, (2005): 59-
88. 

 
6  Frese, “Divided by a Common Language” The History Teacher 39/1, (2005): 59-
88. 
 
7  American Savings Bank Tripoli, Ia.  Our History retrieved from 
https://www.asbtripoli.com/about-us/our-history 
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The Beckers were a typical farm family of the period and produced the majority 

of their own food.  Catherine and her daughters would spend a good portion of their time 

preparing meals for the family as well as planting, maintaining, and harvesting a large 

garden and canning massive amounts of vegetables to be used throughout the coming 

winter.  Electricity was not widely available in Bremer County for the rural population 

until the mid-thirties, so all household chores would be done without the help of modern 

appliances.   

Along with the vegetables, the Beckers raised cattle and hogs for butchering and 

cows for milking.  Conrad and the boys would work the fields, tend to the livestock, 

repair fences, and all the other back breaking chores associated with the running of a 

successful farm at the turn of the century. 

August attended the one room schoolhouse down the road with his brothers, 

sisters, and neighbors until seventh grade.  Here he would learn the three R’s; reading, 

writing, and ‘rithmatic.  School allowed the children a reprieve from their usual day of 

farm chores that lasted from sun up to sun down.  The closest high school was about four 

miles away in Sumner, and at the time most rural children did not attend school past 

eighth grade.  The Beckers did not see the point of going through so much trouble of 

sending the children to high school just to work on the farm.  In 1929 August wrote “you 

see my parents were 100 percent German and did not believe in schooling.”8  His 

younger brother Henry stated in 1940:                                                                          

                                                            
8   August Becker, letter to J.J. Sullivan; Warden of Minnesota State Prison in 
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Now I want to tell you something about the Becker family, my father and mother 
came from Germany, bought a farm in Bremer county near Sumner.  They had 
very little schooling but made a success of farming but did not believe in 
education, August was one in a family of twelve that wanted an education, he 
wanted high school and college and we were all against him on that, because our 
father and mother felt that they had made a success in farming with only about  a 
year of education and we had all received and eighth grade education and that was 
enough for August.  But August never gave up, he begged and pleaded for days 
and months to let him go to high school four miles from where we lived, they 
finally let him go for three of four months then took him out of school and would 
not let him go back, this broke his heart and spirit, he worked at home but was 
and took no interest in his work, then he left home and when we heard from him 
again he was working in the Russell Lamson Hotel in Waterloo, Iowa and going 
to night school….I don’t want you to think that our father and mother was cruel to 
August, they just did not believe in education, and what they did by taking August 
out of school, they was sure was for his own good.9 

 

The Beckers, like most of their neighbors, were totally focused on their farms and 

continuing the culture and lifestyle they had brought with them from Germany.  

Education was not seen as a priority since it was not needed to run a prosperous farm.  

Although Gus identified the reason they were not supportive of education as their 

German background, it may have been more than that.  Richard Hostadter has identified 

that Americans engaged in agriculture are often opposed to higher education for their 

children and the Becker family’s unwillingness to allow Gus to pursue his dream of 

education was indicative of the sentiment of anti-intellectualism in the agricultural 

community. 10  

                                                            

Stillwater Minnesota, undated. 
 

9  Henry Becker, letter to State of Minnesota Board of Parole, 28 June, 1940. 
 
10   Richard Hofstatder, Anti-Intellectualism in American Life. (New York: Alfred A 
Knopf, 1964), 112-114. 



14 
 

His parent’s attitude concerning education had major effects on Gus, who 

dreamed of life beyond the banks of the Wapsie and the farm.  Gus believed that the key 

to fulfilling his dreams was obtaining an education, or at the very least he rationalized 

later in life that his lack of education was the impetus that drove him into leaving the 

farm life.   

When he was 16 August left his home and family to move to Waterloo; a city 

with a population of 4,000 located about forty miles south of Buck Creek.   August 

worked at the Russell Lamson Hotel as a busboy from 6:00PM until midnight, and would 

attend what he called college from 8:00AM until 5:00PM.    According to Gus, he 

continued this grueling schedule for about six months until he could no longer afford 

tuition and was forced to quit college.  At which time August began to work twelve hour 

shifts at the hotel in order to support himself.  August later said of this time at the Russell 

Lamson hotel: 

I was forced to leave school and take a regular watch as a bell for 12 hour nights 
which brought me a little more money But not much.  And so as a poor green 
farm boy in a large hotel I was an easy victim to temptation and found out later 
that a hotel is the worst place in the world for a green boy at sixteen.  So when I 
saw how other people were living and me going hungry half the time it was not 
very hard for an older person to use me to sell his whiskey to guests for more 
money and so became a bootlegger and gambler at 17 years of age.11 

Gus described this as a turning point- the moment when he was no longer an Iowa 

farm boy trying to get an education to better himself.  He was now a criminal, but he was 

                                                            

 
11  August Becker, letter to J.J. Sullivan; Warden of Minnesota State Prison in 
Stillwater Minnesota, undated. 
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also careful to note that it was not his fault.  He identified an older person who led him at 

the tender age of 17 to a life of crime that he would never have done on his own. 

While working at the Russell Lamson Gus also became fascinated with the sport 

of boxing.  He identified himself as a boxer for the next decade and would spend his time 

training and fighting in amateur matches.  A nephew who lived with Conrad and 

Catherine remembered Gus coming to visit the family farm and training by running for 

miles in the frigid Iowa winter with no shirt or shoes to toughen himself for the ring.   

Boxing in America has always been identified as a lower class sport that 

“epitomized a lower-class cultural style of raucous play that affirmed such (lower) 

working-class virtues as prowess, bravery, and physical culture, while promoting honor 

over money-making and valor over comfort.12  Gus chose to engage in sport to stay 

physically fit instead of the hard farm labor of his family.  Also by choosing to train for 

boxing instead of a much more accepted sport like baseball, Gus distanced himself even 

further from the rural traditions of his family and their community.   

The time Gus spent at the Russell-Lamson was a study in contrasts.  On one hand 

Gus had moved to Waterloo to chase his dream of education which represented the 

epitome of high culture.  At the same time he also became active in the sport of boxing 

that represented the very lowest form of American culture.  It is clear he was still 

undecided on how to pursue his own brand of success, but both avenues lead him away 

                                                            
12   Stephen A. Riess, “The New Sport History” Reviews in American History 18/3 
(1990), 311-325. 
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from the bucolic success of land ownership to a more modern idea of success centered on 

the city and material culture. 

Gus stayed at the Russell Lamson for two and a half years and made the forty 

mile trip back home to visit his family frequently during this time.  He became known as 

a trouble maker and was arrested for drunk and disorderly conduct and brawling several 

times in Sumner.  It is not hard to conclude that the young Gus would enjoy spending 

money and showing off to his friends that had stayed behind and became farmers like 

their parents before them.  Gus was no longer part of the community as later articles in 

the local paper would make abundantly clear; in 1928 the Waverly Democrat wrote 

Becker is 29 years old and has resided southeast of Tripoli nearly all his life.  He 
is a shrewd fellow, and his associations in Chicago and other places have proved a 
good school for crooks.  The Milwaukee police warned Sheriff Hallowell that 
Becker was shrewd and knew the various ins and outs of the professional 
criminals … The defendant comes from a family of high standing in Bremer 
County.  They are honest and frugal people that are respected by all who know 
them13  

 

 Gus was no longer identified as a local boy but as a criminal with ties to large cities like 

Chicago.  Gus was described as shrewd while his family was frugal and respected.  This 

idea of the moral farm family was generally accepted across the country.  As more and 

more Americans left the farm and settled in metropolitan areas, they began to view the 

families they left behind as simpler as and more honest than the people they encountered 

                                                            
13   “Hold-Up Man Returned to Answer Charges.” Waverly Democrat, 8 December 
1928. 
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in the cities.  This nostalgic attitude of glorifying the American farmer as a bastion of 

morality continues in America even to this day.  

Between the ages of 16 and 29 Gus help a variety of jobs including various 

bellboy positions at the Russell Lampson Hotel in Waterloo, IA; a leading hotel in 

Independence, Iowa; the Randolph Hotel in Des Moines, Iowa; The Lemmington Hotel in 

Minneapolis, Minnesota; the Carpenter Hotel in Sioux Falls, South Dakota; and the 

Newcomb Hotel in Chicago, Illinois.  He also spent a year and a half as a bellboy and 

dietician at the City of Chicago’s Tuberculosis Sanitarium.    After the Sanatorium he 

would become a laborer at the Chicago Cut Stone Factory for about a year.  He then 

worked for a year or so as a private chauffer for Miss E Fisher.  He then switched jobs 

again and became a truck driver for Edward Sanitarium in Naperville, IL for about a year 

after which time he returned to the Chicago Cut Stone Company for another year before 

he became a truck driver for Mrs. Larsen of Chicago.  Gus would also travel home to 

help his parents out on the farm when he was needed, like when his older brother Conrad 

was drafted to fight in World War I. He also worked on a farm for Mr. Tonne in Sumner 

Iowa in 1927 or 1928.14   Gus claims that although he did move positions frequently, he 

was never discharged. He does not; however give any reasons for his frequent and varied 

job changes that allowed him to move all over the Midwest.  Americans were enjoying 

more freedom of movement at the turn of the century with the advent of the automobile, 

but rarely did the average American change jobs and cities as frequently as Gus.   

                                                            
14   State of Minnesota Board of Parole, Interview with August Becker #9852, 25 July 
1935. 
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It is also important to note that although Gus did spend a little time back in 

Sumner, the majority of his time was spent in increasingly larger cities.  Gus stopped 

taking classes and instead focused his energy on boxing.  Gus was no longer caught 

between two worlds, his path was decided.  
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CHAPTER 3 

CRIME SPREE 

Gus’s first major brush with the law came in 1927 when he stole a car in 

Sandusky, Ohio and received a suspended sentence.  This is the only time the record 

shows Gus in Ohio, presumably he was only passing through possibly for an amateur 

boxing match.  This incident while minor; was the start of a string of arrests in 1927-

1929.  The Waterloo Courier reported the following incident in 1927, before Gus was 

identified as the perpetrator.  In August Gus; using the alias Fred Necker; approached Jay 

Hileman of the Blackhawk Buick Company in Waterloo about purchasing a used car.  

Hileman found a Hudson Brougham valued at $1200 and went on a test drive with Gus 

who said he was a farmer from Denver, IA and would need to consult with his wife 

before purchasing.  Gus knew that by choosing to pose as a farmer, he would be 

perceived as more trustworthy and honest.  Later that day, a third man approached 

Hileman and told him he worked for Fred Necker and that his employer would be unable 

to get to Waterloo with his wife until after supper. The “hired man” was a short, heavy-

set man with a foreign accent who would later be identified as Hugo Eiffert.  

According to newspaper accounts Gus and Eiffert showed up at the garage to talk 

to Hileman about the Hudson again still using the aliases of Fred Necker and his hired 

hand.  Gus claimed that he was unable to bring his wife to approve the purchase because 

they had chickens and there had been a chicken thief in the area and they did not want to 
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take any chances of getting their chickens stolen.  Hileman offered to drive the car to 

Denver so that Gus’s wife could see the car and approve the purchase.   

The three men headed towards Denver which was about 15 miles North of 

Waterloo and 20 miles South of Sumner with Hileman driving, Gus in the front seat 

beside him, and Eiffert in the back.  As they got closer to Denver, Gus asked to drive and 

Hileman obliged.  As they drove along, Gus talked about the farmers who lived in the 

area with familiarity, putting the salesman at ease.   A little past Denver at the small 

community of Artesian Gus turned onto a little used road that led to the Big Woods and 

pulled the car to the side of the road near the bottom of a hill.  He then turned to Hileman, 

ordered him to “stick ‘em up”, and produced a revolver.   Hileman struggled to escape, 

breaking the glass of the windshield and passenger side door in the process.  But Gus 

quickly over powered him and robbed him of his wallet and jewelry before tying a red 

handkerchief over his eyes.  Gus and Eiffert then shoved Hileman into the backseat and 

drove around the country side for nearly an hour before unceremoniously stopping the car 

and shoving him out onto a lonely country road a mile east of Artesian.   

Hileman walked about a half of a mile to the nearest farm where he used the 

telephone to call his employer who in turned contacted the Waterloo police as well as the 

Bremer county sheriff’s office.   Hileman described Necker as “of medium build, age 

about 28, height, 5 feet 10 ½ inches, wore brown sweater coat and striped overalls over 

dark pants.  A part of the time he wore brown glasses with one lens cracked.” Eiffert was 
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described as heavy-set, weight, 150 pounds, height, 5 feet 6 inches wearing a blue serge 

suit and a black soft hat.1   

Gus chose to pose as a farmer because he knew a farmer was portrayed as 

someone moral and trustworthy.  Hileman himself states that Gus’s knowledge of area 

farmers put him at ease.  After the robbery, the men were called “confidence men” and 

compared to “the thrills of the dime store novel”2  before their real identities were 

revealed.  The men had dressed and acted like simple farmers, and had even identified 

people who lived in rural communities, but once they revealed their criminal nature they 

were no longer identified with the rural community and instead were identified as 

outsiders.   

 The Waverly Democrat reported that the next day Gus and Eiffert abandoned the 

stolen car near Galena, Illinois.  A short distance from where they abandoned the stolen 

Hudson they came upon a young man and his “best girl.”  They attacked the frightened 

couple and tied them to a tree and took off in their car.  A few weeks later the pair stole 

another car from a doctor in Osage Iowa and headed back to Bremer County.3 

                                                            
1  “Confidence Men Rob Jay Hileman of Gems and Car.” Waterloo Courier, 11 
August 1927. 
 
2  “Confidence Men Rob Jay Hileman of Gems and Car.” Waterloo Courier, 11 
August 1927. 
 
3  “August Becker in Idaho Penitentiary.” Waverly Democrat, 27 June 1929. 
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The next crime to be reported in the local papers was on September 4, 1927.  Gus 

and Eiffert knocked on the door of John Shultz of Tripoli, just a few miles from Gus’s 

parent’s home.  Schultz invited the two familiar men inside. Once inside his farmhouse, 

Gus demanded Schultz give him any cash and firearms he had.  Schultz was shocked 

since he had known Gus and the Becker family his entire life.   When Gus pulled out his 

revolver, Schultz complied with his demands and handed the robbers $200 in cash and a 

shotgun.4 

The papers also reported that on September 24, 1927 Gus and Eiffert showed up 

at the Wilkening Oil Station of Readlyn, Iowa, about 10 miles from the Becker farm and 

robbed the startled attendant and various patrons of the garage.  In the police report the 

attendant said that he and the other victims had known Gus and had tried to reason with 

him to no avail.  Once again Gus and Eiffert sped off with about $100 gathered from the 

patrons and the cash register.5 

These armed robberies of his rural neighbors cemented Gus’s reputation as a 

hardened criminal and assured that he would be the top target for every officer in Bremer 

County. Gus stole from his neighbors and friends.  The hard working farmers in Bremer 

County just did not behave that way.  The Waverly paper described his activity as 

                                                            
4  “Hold-Up Man Returned to Answer Charges.” Waverly Democrat, 8 December 
1928. 
 
5   “Hold-Up Man Returned to Answer Charges.” Waverly Democrat, 8 December 
1928. 
 



23 
 

“terrorizing the central and southern part of the county” 6 and him as “alleged hold up 

man, auto thief, and all around bad man.”7 He was no longer one of their own but “had 

left three years ago for Chicago where, it is said, he learned the ways of big crime.”8 

The papers continued to recount Gus’s activities after the gas station robbery by 

reporting that the car that Eiffert and Gus had used for the recent robberies stalled on a 

gravel road and two young local men stopped to see if they needed help.  They were 

rudely rebuffed and left the two men and the stalled car.  As they drove off, Gus or Eiffert 

fired a shot at their car.  The startled young men reported the incident to the local police 

who headed out to investigate.  Eiffert and Gus took off running into a corn field.  The 

less agile Eiffert was captured and was put on trial for the robbery and kidnapping of Jay 

Hileman, John Schultz, and the Wilkening Oil Station.  He was given twenty-five years at 

hard labor at the state penitentiary and implicated Gus as the mastermind behind the 

crimes at his trial while he himself was just a simple accomplice, lured into crime by the 

hardened Gus.9  The capture of Eiffert and his subsequent confession was a catalyst for 

Gus.  Throughout the rest of his life, Gus would claim that Eiffert unfairly accused him of 

                                                            
6   “Hold-Up Man Returned to Answer Charges.” Waverly Democrat, 8 December 
1928. 
 
7   “August Becker Obtains Freedom through Clever Ruse” Waverly Democrat, 3 
January  
     1929. 
 
8   “Becker Brought Back to Waverly to Face Charges” Waterloo Courier, 10 
December  1928. 
 
9  “August Becker in Idaho Penitentiary.” Waverly Democrat, 27 June 1929. 
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crimes he did not commit, thereby setting of a chain of events that ironically forced him 

into crime and away from his rural roots.  It is also important to note that although Gus 

continued to claim innocence from all the crimes in Bremer County he would later be 

positively identified by Jay Hileman the car salesman, as well as by the friends and 

neighbors he robbed in Tripoli and Readlyn. 

In December of 1928 Gus received a ticket for speeding in Milwaukee, Wisconsin 

and was ordered to show up for police court the next day.  When he failed to do so the 

Milwaukee PD issued a warrant for his arrest unaware there were already multiple active 

warrants in Iowa. The Milwaukee police quickly located Gus and ran a full background 

check.  Unfortunately for Gus, the Waterloo police department recognized the man listed 

as “ Martin John Baker, alias Martin Blake, alias William Blake” as the man wanted in 

Bremer county for numerous armed robberies and kidnaping and informed the Bremer 

County Sheriff, John Hollowell, that Gus had been detained in Milwaukee.  Sheriff 

Hollowell quickly contacted the Milwaukee PD to let them know he would retrieve Gus 

to face the charges against him in Bremer County after Jay Hileman positively identified 

him as the man who had robbed and kidnapped him almost two years earlier.10    

Once again Gus found himself back in Bremer County, but this time he was 

behind bars and staring down the barrel of a minimum of 25 years in the state 

penitentiary if convicted.  Gus quickly hired Burton Sweet, a former Iowa State Senator, 

                                                            
10  “Hileman Robber and Kidnaper to be Brought Back.” Waterloo Courier, 8 
December 1928. 
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as his attorney and spent the first several days of his stay at the jail in conference with his 

attorney and his younger brother Henry.11  The fact that Burton Sweet agreed to take Gus 

on as a client attests to the wealth and reputation the Becker family enjoyed.  As a former 

Iowa State Senator, Mr. Sweet was the preeminent attorney in Bremer County. 

As reported in the local newspapers Gus refused to plead guilty, and also refused 

to allow any of his family members to post bail.  Gus spent Christmas of 1928 in his cold 

jail cell in Waverly, about 20 miles from the Becker farm.  The day after Christmas Gus 

requested a private meeting with the Evangelical minister from the church he had 

attended with his family as a child; claiming he desired to take communion.  The deputy 

granted a private meeting with Gus, his brother Henry, and Rev. Philip Hilligardt of Buck 

Creek.  The three men met alone in a second story conference room in the jail.  Rev. 

Hilligardt recounted the details of the meeting to a reporter of the Waterloo Courier 

newspaper: 

Becker seated himself next to the outside window and took a chair next to the 
door.  Becker was chewing tobacco, and as he talked with the minister he raised 
the window slightly and spat outside.  The next time he wanted to spit he raised 
the window a little bit higher.  When the window was high enough to look out 
Becker stuck his head out to see how far it was to the ground.  Like a flash he 
stood up and raised the window a little higher and jumped out.12 

 

                                                            
11   “Farmers and Business Men Friends Call on Becker in Jail at Waverly; Former 
Congressman his Attorney.”Waterloo Courier, 11 December 1928. 
 
12   “Criminal Uses Minister’s Visit as Opportunity to Break Jail.” Waterloo Courier, 
27 December 1928. 

 



26 
 

The scintillating story was recounted in the Waverly Democrat, the Waterloo 

Courier, and the Sumner Gazette.  All three papers reported that as soon as Gus jumped 

the seven feet to the ground the deputy sheriff was notified in the next room.  He ran out 

to see if he could locate Gus, but no trace could be found.  The sheriff was called and 

quickly decided to send to Waterloo for some bloodhounds and organized a posse of local 

men to search for the escaped convict.  Gus had escaped into the cold Iowa night at about 

6PM when the majority of the townspeople were at home eating dinner, and he was able 

to get out of town without being detected despite still being clothed in the light clothing 

provide to him by the jail.13 

By 7PM the posse was formed, the blood hounds had arrived from Waterloo, and 

the manhunt commenced.  They followed his trail out of Waverly towards the small 

village of Bremer, through Readlyn, and across the countryside to the small railroad town 

of Dewar, a total of twenty-six miles from Waverly.  The scent was lost and the trail ran 

dry at the train platform; the sheriff surmised that Gus jumped a train and was probably 

out of the state. 

The weary posse made their way back to Waverly empty handed at 4am, 9 hours 

after they first began the hunt.  When the sheriff searched the cell that had held Gus until 

                                                            
13   “Becker in Escape From Jumping Through Open Window” Sumner Gazette, 3 
January 1929. 
 



27 
 

his escape he found a revolver fashioned out of cardboard and tinfoil.  It was clear that 

Gus had no intentions of facing a jury of his peers and the possibility of prison.14    

The story of Gus’s daring escape made the front page of the Sumner and Waverly 

paper and new details continued to be published for weeks after the initial story.  In these 

two more local and more rural papers, Gus is portrayed as a local youth gone bad – a 

farm kid who’s brush with big city criminal turned him bad despite being from one of the 

best families in the county.   

 With his capture and escape from Bremer county jail, there was no going back to 

his family and the life that he had left on the farm at the tender age of sixteen.  He was 

too notorious in the community and all of Bremer County.  His sister Alma who lived 

approximately 20 miles from the Becker farm later recalled men hiding in the cornfield 

across from her farm waiting to see if Gus would show up to visit his sister.  She was 

very reluctant to talk about her brother, and was very ashamed to be related as her 

daughter-in-law would recount many years later.   His next known crime was in Gilmore 

City, Iowa in May of 1929. 

According to a story published in the Des Moines Register at about 9:30PM three 

men; all armed with shotguns, entered the home of former Iowa senator HS Van Alstine 

who was currently a cashier at the Gilmore City Bank.  The Van Alstine’s were a 

prominent and wealthy family; along with Mr. Van Alstine’s service in the state 

                                                            
14   “Did Becker Plan Escape or Just Grasp Opportunity?” Waverly Democrat, 10 
January 1929. 
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legislature, Mrs. Van Alstine served as mayor of Gilmore City.  One of the men was 

dressed as a woman and wore heavy make up to disguise his looks; presumably this was 

Gus although he would never publicly admit to the part he played in this robbery; and the 

other two wore masks over their faces.  At the time the men entered, Mr. Van Alstine was 

home along with his wife, son, daughter, and two grandchildren.  All six were ordered to 

face the wall and their hands were quickly tied behind their backs. The bandits took a 

diamond ring valued at $1200 from Van Alstine’s daughter and a pair of his pants, but 

did not take anything else from the family.  For the rest of the night the Van Alstine 

family was kept prisoners in their own home. They were allowed to sit or lay on the floor 

while the bandits closely guarded them.   The next morning, the terrified and exhausted 

Mr. Van Alstine, his son, and his daughter were untied and ordered into a sedan that was 

parked outside their home with two of the bandits.  Inside the car were two other men and 

a woman who presumably had stayed in the parked car all night keeping watch over the 

house.  One bandit stayed behind to guard Mrs. Van Alstine and her two grandchildren.15 

The bandits took the Van Alstine’s to the bank where Mr. Van Alstine worked 

and ordered the younger Van Alstine’s, along with four other bank employees to face the 

wall.three of the bandits guarded them while the other two forced Mr. Van Alstine to 

open the vault.   The quickly scooped up $5000 and left the bank, warning the Van 

Alstine’s and the bank employees to stay against the wall.  The bandits headed out of 

                                                            
15   “Van Alstine Family is Kept All Night by Robbers.” Des Moines Register, 14 
May 1929. 
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town after stopping briefly to pick up the bandit they had left to guard Mrs. Van Alstine 

and the children.16   

The police were notified of the robbery a few minutes after the bandits left the 

bank, and a posse was quickly formed.  They searched throughout the day, but no trace of 

the bandits could be found until two weeks later when Harold Ball was arrested and put 

on trial for his part in the robbery. During his trial Ball implicated Gus as well as Frank 

Melavin and Roy Salman as the other bandits involved.  According to Ball, the four men 

acted alone which is at odds with the accounts written in the Des Moines Register and the 

Waterloo Courier who both state there were 6 bandits, one of whom was female.  But 

since they had convicted one bandit and had a lead on three others, the Iowa police were 

apparently content.  No effort was made to find out who the remaining bandits may have 

been and all involved concentrated solely on finding and arresting Gus, Salman, and 

Melavin.17  When Ball implicated Gus in this crime, his notoriety grew and he became 

known throughout the state of Iowa, not just in Bremer County.  For the first time in his 

short criminal career, his exploits had made the Des Moines Register- the largest 

newspaper in the state.  He had also chosen to target prominent members of the 

community, not just random farmers and used car salesman.  In addition, Gus had 

committed a bank robbery and had kidnapped an entire family including children.  The 

                                                            
16  “Van Alstine Family is Kept All Night by Robbers.” Des Moines Register, 14 
May 1929. 

 
17   “Implicates August Becker in Gilmore City Robbery.” Waverly Democrat, 30 
May 1929. 
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famous St Valentine’s Day Massacre in Chicago had occurred just a few month previous 

and had made national news.  Americans were being introduced to big city gangsters and 

were fearful as well as fascinated.  When the crime happened in other communities 

Americans were fascinated with the daring exploits of the new American Gangster.  But 

when it occurred in their own backyard to their own neighbors and friends it was 

frightening.  And he had gained the attention of more than just rural Bremer County.  He 

now was a known criminal and a fugitive throughout the state. 
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CHAPTER 4 

GUS’S LAST STAND 

 Gus again disappeared from Iowa.  He now had a little cash from the Gilmore 

City bank robbery and headed to Minneapolis where he stayed out of the limelight and 

trained for boxing. According to later accounts in the Waterloo Courier the handsome 

boxer soon caught the eye of a pretty, young store clerk named Alice Hull.  She had 

moved to the city just two years before with her parents from the small town of Kimball, 

Minnesota where she had played volleyball and diamond ball in high school.  Since 

moving to the city, Alice had joined a girl’s league basketball team and was an avid 

sports fan.  The tall, dark, and handsome stranger who gave his name as Bill Thompson 

swept the young girl off her feet with the stories of his professional boxing career in 

Chicago. 1 

While wooing Alice in Minneapolis, Gus pulled some small robbery jobs with 

Melavin and Salman, most notably robbing H.E. Stone, a store manager in St Cloud of 

money and his inscribed watch - which was later found in Gus’s pocket.  Alice married 

her handsome boxer in May and moved to a cabin with her groom and who she believed 

were his trainer and promoter Pat Melavin and Roy Salman on Birch Lake near Elk 

River, Minnesota.  Mr. and Mrs. David Hull, parents of the bride who had disapproved of 

                                                            
1   “Stop to Get His Pretty, Young Wife Cause of August Becker’s Capture.” 
Waterloo Courier, 10 August 1929. 
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the marriage, said they saw very little of their daughter and her new husband after the 

nuptials and believed they had rented a cottage so he could train for some upcoming 

boxing matches.2 

According to reports after a few months on the lake, Gus was running short on 

cash.  He knew he would need to plan something that would have a bigger payoff than 

the small robberies that would only net a few hundred bucks at most.  He set his sights on 

the small bank in Elk River and formulated a plan.  On August 9, 1929 Gus, Salman, and 

Melavin knocked on the door of Dr. Page, a kindly and well known doctor in Elk River.  

One of the men pretended to be injured in a car accident, and the other two supported 

him.  The doctor was not in, but his wife called and urged him to hurry home to treat the 

“injured” man.  Once Dr. Page arrived home, the three men pulled revolvers from their 

coats and ordered the family against a wall; reminiscent of their actions n Gilmore City 

from a few months before.3 

The Courier continues to report that the men forced Dr. Page to call L.K. Houlton, 

president of the bank.  When he did not answer, they demanded the Dr. to contact Sam 

Houlton, brother to the president.  When he was also unable to be located the bandits told 

Mrs. Page to contact Tom Olson, a cashier at the bank.  When she crossed the room to 

call Mr. Olson, she saw him walking across the street and was commanded to call him in.  

                                                            
2   “Stop to Get His Pretty, Young Wife Cause of August Becker’s Capture.” 
Waterloo Courier, 10 August 1929. 
 
3   “August Becker is in Custody after Minnesota Battle.” Sumner Gazette, 15 
August 1929. 
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When Mr. Olson entered the home, he was quickly apprehended along with the Dr. and 

Mrs. Page and their son Billy.4 

Gus and another of his men took Dr. Page and Mr. Olsen to the bank, leaving the 

other man behind to guard Mrs. Page and Billy.  Once inside the bank Gus and the other 

bandit alerted the cashiers and to patrons of their intentions and ordered them to stand 

around and act natural.  The other bandit guarded them while Gus ordered Mr. Olsen to 

the vault and grabbed in excess of $7,200 in small and large bills.  The two bandits fled 

the bank stopping only for a moment to pick up the remaining bandit at the Page’s, and 

headed out of town.5 

The newspaper continued to report that about ten minutes after the robbery, the 

superintendent of the newly formed state highway patrol happened to be traveling 

through Elk River and was alerted of the situation and given the description and license 

plate numbers of the getaway car.  He quickly stopped to pick up another highway 

patrolman in town and gave chase. 

In the meantime, Gus, Salman, and Melavin stopped by their rental cottage and 

told Alice that they had to leave right away because of a claim on an automobile accident 

in Minneapolis.  They quickly collected their belongings and set out.  Because of the lost 

                                                            
4   “August Becker is in Custody after Minnesota Battle.” Sumner Gazette, 15 
August 1929. 
 
5   “August Becker is in Custody after Minnesota Battle.” Sumner Gazette, 15 
August 1929. 
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time taken to pick up Alice, the sheriff was able to easily locate the bandits and began 

pursuit.6 

The patrolmen chased the robbers for miles, trading shots with the bandits until 

both cars were simultaneously disabled in a grain field.  The patrolmen continued to fire 

shots at the disabled getaway car until Gus tumbled out of the driver’s seat; his right arm 

shattered by one of the patrolmen’s bullets.  Alice followed him into the field and cradled 

her injured husband’s head in her lap as he lay bleeding.  Gus quickly shoved the packet 

of money at Alice before the patrolmen drug her away from him and arrested her along 

with Salman and Melavin who had surrendered once the car had been disabled.  Salman, 

Melavin, and Alice were sent to the county jail while Gus was sent to the hospital where 

his arm was amputated due to the severity of the injury.7 

Once at the jail, Alice claimed she knew nothing of any criminal activity, and said 

she believed that Gus was a boxer and Salman and Melavin were his trainer and 

promoter.  She did admit to knowing there was a machine gun in the car, but had no idea 

they had planned to rob the bank or any knowledge of any of their other crimes.  While in 

jail, she learned the man she married was really named August Becker, and was wanted 

in Iowa on charges of robbery and kidnapping.  Alice was charged with receiving stolen 

property because of the packet of money she accepted from Gus as he lay injured in the 

                                                            
6   “Stop to Get His Pretty, Young Wife Cause of August Becker’s Capture.” 
Waterloo Courier, 10 August 1929. 

 
7   “Stop to Get His Pretty, Young Wife Cause of August Becker’s Capture.” 
Waterloo Courier, 10 August 1929. 
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field.  Much later, all charges would be dropped against Alice.8 The newspapers 

portrayed Alice as a pretty and innocent victim, enchanted by his dark good looks and his 

stories of his boxing success.  The papers report that she was an avid sports fan, and 

played both in high school and on a ladies league that had been organized by the 

department store in which she worked when she met Gus.   

It is interesting to note that department stores were the center of the new culture 

of consumerism as William Leach discusses in his book Land of Desire.  Every choice 

that Gus has made since his move to the Russell Lamson Hotel when he was just sixteen 

years old speaks of his dream of consumer culture.  Even the education he pursued was to 

take him away from the farm and the traditional life of his parents.  He had waivered for 

a moment between the legitimate road to his idea of success exemplified by obtaining an 

education and the illegitimate road of criminal activity and the seedy world of boxing.  

But the destination remained the same.  Now, 13 years later, he chose a wife who played 

sports and worked in a department store- the Mecca of consumer culture. She personified 

everything that he desired.   Every decision he made, every step he took, lead him away 

from the farm and into the city.  He rejected the traditional farm life of his family to 

pursue his own more modern dream. 

Salman and Melavin were not as lucky as Gus’s bride.  On August 15, just six 

days after they robbed the Elk River Bank, Roy Salman and Pat Melavin were given life 

                                                            
8   “August Becker Captured in Robbery of Elk River Bank.” Waverly Democrat, 15 
August 1929. 
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sentences. Their trials lasted less than a day since both men pled guilty.  During their 

trials, both men implicated Gus as the mastermind behind the bank robbery in Elk River, 

as well as the Gilmore City robbery and  numerous other smaller armed robberies of 

garages and stores in Minnesota like that of H.E. Stone in St Cloud.  Gus’s trial would 

have to wait until the next day since he was still in the hospital recovering from the 

amputation of his right arm about four inches below his shoulder.9 

On August 16, 1929, just a week after he robbed the Elk River Bank and had his 

right arm shattered by a bullet, August F Becker faced a judge.  His parents had hired 

Burton Sweet to defend him, the same lawyer Gus had conferred with before jumping jail 

a few months previously.  His trial lasted hardly a half of an hour and at its conclusion 

Gus would be a convicted criminal.  During the trial, Mr. Sweet made the following 

statement: 

 May it Please Your Honor.  I had not expected to make any statement until a few 
moments ago.  I am profoundly impressed with the fact that I am an officer of this 
Court.  I am also profoundly impressed with the sacred duty I am to perform on 
behalf of the defendant before this court.  I realize fully that anything I may say 
will have no effect on the sentence finally rendered by the Court.  I must say to 
the Court that I have known this man and have known him since his youth.  I 
know his family, I know his Father and his Mother.  I know personally his 
brothers and his sister.  They are as a whole one of the most respectful and most 
respected families in the county in which I live.  Today you have before you a 
young man possessed of unusual powers intellectually, and until this occasion, 
physically.  I will say that if those powers had been directed long proper lines, he 
might have been a wonderful success in the business world and a captain of 
industry in the community.  Your Honor, within this young man, we find a 
strange mingling of politeness, kindness, cheerfulness and magnetism.  We find 
blended in his personality a sort of dual nature.  He is of a pleasing disposition, 

                                                            
9   “Two Minnesota Bank Robbers are Given Life Terms.” Des Moines Register, 15 
August 1929. 
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kind to children and his friends, and why he should take this peculiar course he 
has, I do not know.  His is a nature full of courage, calmness, and self possession, 
an yet hos deepest regret is not for himself, but for his family, his family is upon 
his mind, the family that he has disgraced.  I will say, Your Honor, that Mr. 
Brown who is here and who is the man who maimed the defendant, that he bears 
no grudge against him.  He says, and I believe him, that never in his life has he 
shot a person, neither has he attempted to shoot, but that he has bluffed a number 
of men.  It is a peculiar history, a history, I may say, almost beyond 
comprehension.  In a physical way, if properly trained as a prize fighter, he would 
be in a class with Jack Dempsey.  This young man has great energies, and 
enormous power, part along correct lines, and yet today before stands a maimed 
man.  Yet he holds no grudge against the man who shot off that arm.  He is still 
suffering great pain, yet he came to this court although in the ordinary run of the 
circumstances he would be under a doctor’s care and be confined to a hospital for 
many days.  Yet on account of his physical strength and good condition, he is able 
to stand the strain.  He tells me, Your Honor, that he has no grudge against the 
county attorney nor the judge who will sentence him.  I say this, in order that you 
may understand this man.  A few days ago, he walked the streets a free man, and 
today when the sun goes down a life sentence will have been imposed, and he 
passes from among men, not dead, but practically so.  The other day he possessed 
all the members of his body, but today he is maimed for life, and yet all this does 
not make him complain.  His chief concern is his home and family.  Your Honor, 
I say there is still some good in this man.  There is good in him, and I hope 
someday he is able to demonstrate to the world and his family that there is good in 
him.  To be sure, a life sentence is about to be imposed, so it is only a hope.  We 
know something of the average man, we know his trials, we know his failures, his 
successes, his triumphs.  We know his passions, the temptations to fall, but we do 
not know when the wild storm and tempest wreak havoc, we do not know when 
the clouds dim and darken in an unguarded hour, and the terrible deed is done 
which leaves a curse upon the soul.  Our ignorance should make us hesitate.  Our 
own weakness should make us merciful.  We are ready for sentence to be 
pronounced. 10 

 

 Once in prison Gus proved that an education was important to him by studying 

via correspondence classes.  He also wrote plays, lectures, and songs- all of which are 

now lost.  His incarceration and the loss of his right arm proved to him that he would not 

                                                            
10   State of Minnesota, transcript of State v. August Becker, 16 August 1929.  
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be able to achieve his dreams through the quicker method of criminal activity and boxing, 

but he clung to his dream and continued to work to achieve it by correspondence classes.  

Education was still not a necessary element of success in the rural community he left.  It 

was not easy or cheap to receive an education in college.  Gus was required to work long 

hours daily in the prison factory as well as performing other chores within prison 

industries.  Gus also had to learn how to write again because of the loss of his right arm.  

But he continued to overcome all of the obstacles and received his degree while 

incarcerated with the support of his younger brother Henry.  Gus also wrote many letters 

and worked tirelessly to be considered for parole, which was finally granted in 1942.   

 After obtaining parole Gus worked briefly for his sister who now owned the 

family farm, before moving to Waterloo to work with his brother William at a 

manufacturing plant.  Finding work that was suitable for a one-armed man was difficult 

even with the prosthetic arm he was fitted with in prison and the education that he had 

worked so tirelessly to receive.  After a few years in Waterloo, Gus moved to Des Moines 

and married a woman named Doris.  He was working as an attendant in the parking lot 

owned by his wife when he hung himself with the drape cords in the home he shared with 

his wife.  August was 55 years old when he chose to take his own life.   

 When Gus died he was living in relative anonymity in a small house in a lower 

middle class neighborhood in Des Moines, Iowa.  He had been running from the farm and 

the traditional life of his parents his entire life.  From leaving the farm at sixteen to get an 

education, to boxing, to robbing friends, to robbing banks, to obtaining an education in 

prison, Gus never gave up.  Until he was 55 and he saw no other avenue open to him to 
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find success in the modern world; the one thing that had drove all of his decisions his 

entire life.   Gus chose to end his life and his struggle to find his place in the world by his 

own hand. 
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CONCLUSION 

 Sometimes just hearing a name will take a person to another era.  George 

Washington and Samuel Adams brings feelings of bravery and patriotism in the war for 

Independence.  Quantrille’s Raiders evoke feelings of desperation and cruelty in the 

twilight of the Civil War.    Billy the Kid and Wyatt Earp exemplify the freedom and 

lawlessness of the Old West.  Theodore Roosevelt stands in the dawn of a new century 

holding his big stick.  Al Capone and John Dillinger race across the Midwest in fast cars 

with pretty molls.  The name August F Becker does none of these.  He was nothing but a 

German farm boy in Iowa turned two-bit criminal who’s only claim to fame were a few 

articles in local papers that followed his crimes and eventual capture.  But his story still 

resonates within the era he lived.   

 Gus saw his family and community as rural and traditional.  Buck Creek Iowa 

was the embodiment of his parent’s bucolic ideas of success.  It is what they and their 

parent’s dreamed of as they journeyed from their native Germany to Iowa.  But Gus 

wanted something else.  America was changing fast and Gus wanted to be part of that 

change.  He wanted the fast life and the fast cars that embodied the Modern America.  

But how was a poor farm boy who was even denied higher education to take the leap 

from farm life to city dreams?   Gus lived his life searching for the magic road to his 

version of success.  

 Gus achieved his version of success for a short time.  He got to drive fast cars, 

travel, wear silk suits, and even get in the ring as an amateur boxer.  But his success was 
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cut short once the law caught up with him and he lost his arm and his freedom in the 

space of a week.  Gus turned criminal in order to achieve what he believed was success, 

while turning his back on his parent’s idea of success.  His methods assured that he 

would never be able to achieve success in any capacity in the end.  In February, 1930 Gus 

wrote the following letter to his sister Emma who had married a neighbor.  She and her 

husband owned a prosperous farm located just a few miles from her parents.  She had a 

large family and followed in her parent’s footsteps.  

  

2/23/30 

Sunday Afternoon Feb 23-1930 

To my dear Sister Emma & Family 

I do not know how you are making it in this cruel world.  But it is my wish and 
hope that this letter: it being the first letter I ever wrote to you and your family 
that you are well and happy one and all.  Emma dear Sister I remember my last at 
your splendid farm home with a bleeding heart and tears in my eyes.  My last visit 
was on the day of your new barn raising it certainly was a beautiful day for that 
purpose and will never forget the many and good things we had to eat.  How 
many years is it since I saw your place last? If my memory is not failing me it 
must be seven years ago in 1923. Anyway it is a long time ago, and I will carry 
the beautiful vision with me to my dying day which may not be much longer.  
Sister dear please forgive me for not writing to you and your family before this.  
But I went through so much hell and pain that I was really not my real self.  
Further moor I lost my right arm and being naturaly  right handed I found it very 
hard to write with my left hand.  To be maimed is a big handicapp.  no one can 
realize its greatness until one becomes so.  Emma dear sister I suppose it is                   
far bove you to understand how and why a son of Conrad Becker can be in prison.  
Well it is very sad.  But to make a long story short on account of limited writing 
space I will tell you some thing about why I robbed a Bank                    or why I 
become  a robber.  I was forced to do it.   by being constantly falsly accused by 
the police and people of Iowa.  in fact they had false circumstantial evidence with 
falsly sworn endictments against me that called for a twenty five year sentence.  
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so you see I was hounded by the police day and night in fear of being caught to 
serve a sentence of which I am innocent.  so I took to trael to avoid to avoid such 
injustic.  But I found out I could not remain at my boxing or any other honest 
living for fear of being detected and hunted by a lot of false blood thirsty selfish 
none justice dealing money hungry people.  So that is the very reason why I 
became a robber of said bank to be what they falsely accused me of being.  Why?  
because they might have eventually sentenced me to twenty five years to prison of 
which I was and am not guilty.  Well to make a long story still shorter.  I will say 
and write the truth that the Iowa police and some narrow minded people did not 
dare to consider the fact that Hugo Eifert lied about me. Oh well life offers so 
much bitter fruit so I guess one and all must share if not on earth then in the great 
unknown.  knowing I am partly justified to know that those who are guilty of 
sending me to a life long living prison death will pay for it if not on earth then in 
the hereafter.  And now I want you – your whole family, and the police, and the 
people of the United States to know I am not guilty of anything.  except this bank 
robbery in minnesota.  even so I was forced to do it or choose between starvation 
or serve a sentence in Iowa of which I am innocent.  And so I choose the former.  
So may God help me as I did not receive Justice.  Oh Sister dear where are the 
saviors of humanity or where are the Justice dealing public if such a thing exist.  
Yes I planned to rob the bank here with two other boys.  But I used all the 
intelligence common sense character to over come hurting anyone in doing so.  
But never the less they did not even meet me half way in giving me Justice.  They 
did not consider my manly part nor anything pertaining to my broadmindedness 
goodness or life saving plan.  The Judge merley read the law.  stating that such an 
offense called for a life sentence.  So he went on.  I the Judge of the law sentence 
you August Becker to prison at hard labor to the end of your natural life.  as your 
physical body may permit.  Well sister those                                                          
Words have been my harshes in all my life.  Any way Justice was not given me.  
Only a wrong law was imposed. which was made and passed by men that never 
were in want nor do they understand such a teribble sentence nor do they care.  if 
they do care I hope they will show it before it is too late to have me benefit by it.  
no body seems to care.  and no body really knows.  how it hurts to be in prison 
espiecially when on is not bad at heart. It is impossible for any one to understand 
a prison hell unless one becomes a prisoner.  one must live the living death to find 
and see the heart ache loneliness agony sacrifice mental torment mind torture 
suspense bitterness and the down fall physical and spiritually.  the hell of prison is 
to great for me to endure.  since my goodness and clean character was not taken in 
consideration and not dealt with accordingly.  So there is or are only three ways to 
over come it.  one is liberty one death the other insanity.  if one goes insane which 
is bound to come if I live.  at least if I become insane then I will not be conscious 
of it.   But I prefer liberty or death.  So if they carry out such an unjustifiable law 
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then I will fool them all.  by doing the only thing that is left to do.  I swear I will 
not go out of here and old man nor middle aged alive.  Why?  because I have not 
done a wrong big enough to ask or impose it upon me.  I am a lover of the great 
out doars the sun the wind moon lakes and streams and of natural foods in there 
natural state.  I despise anything modern or prepared foods.  there is nothing to 
live for while here.  Nothing but worry and loneliness.  But I will say that I do not 
mind paying for my wrong.  But only equal punishment for wrong not 60-40 or 
worse.  With love to all.  Your Brother August Becker 

P.S.  yes I received your letter thanks.  Also Please answer my letter at once 
because I am anxious to hear from you.  Save this letter1 

 

 Gus talks about the idyllic days of raising her barn and life on the farm.  He 

articulates a longing for nature and the good clean living that he left on the farm, and he 

blames society for forcing him into a life of crime.  While his letter is overly-dramatic, I 

do believe Gus was goaded into a life of crime.  He was inundated with advertisements 

and other media of a luxurious and exciting life in the city, and he had no idea how to 

become a part of that life.  While he alone is responsible for his criminal actions, he was 

led there by a larger society that no longer valued the calm and traditional life that he 

knew in Iowa.  So the German farm boy took whatever method he could find to get him 

to the life he wanted.  But in the end, his desires destroyed him.   

  

                                                            
1   August F Becker, letter to Emma Geistfelt. 3 February 1930. 



44 
 

REFERENCES 

AMERICAN CULTURE AND CONSUMERISM 

Burnham, John C. Bad Habits.New York: New York Universities Press, 1993. 
 
Cashman, Sean D. America in the Age of the Titans. New York: New York University 

 Press, 1988. 
 

Cashman, Sean D. America in the Twenties and Thirties.  New York: New York  
 University Press, 1989. 
 
Frese, Stephen J. “Divided by a Common Language: The Babel Proclamation and its 

 Influence in Iowa History” The History Teacher 39 /1 (2005), 59-88. 
 
Hofstatder, Richard. Anti-Intellectualism in American Life. New York: Alfred A Knopf,  
 1964. 
  
Leach, William. Land of Desire Merchants, Power, and the Rise of a New American  
 Culture. New York: First Vintage Books, 1993. 
 
Library of Congress Immigrants in the Progressive Era retrieved from  
 http://www.loc.gov/teachers/classroommaterials/presentationsandactivities/presen
 tations/timeline/progress/immigrnt/,:1999 
 
Riess, Stephen A. “The New Sport History” Reviews in American History 18/3  
 (1990), 311-325. 

 
CRIME AND THE PROHIBITION ERA 

 
Behr, Edward.   Prohibition, the Thirteen Years that Changed America.  New York: Arcade  
 Publishing, 1997. 
 
 Bequai, August. Organized Crime.  Massachusetts: Lexington Books, 1979. 
 
Doherty, Thomas. Pre-code Hollywood. New York: Columbia University Press, 1999. 
 
Helmer, William and Mattix, Rick.  Public Enemies: America’s Criminal Past.   

New York: Checkmark Books, 1998. 
 

Potter, Claire Bond. War on Crime, Bandits, G-Men, and the Politics of Mass Culture.   
New Brunswick: Rutgers University Press, 1998. 
 



45 
 

Reppetto, Thomas.  American Mafia, A History of its Rise to Power. New York: Holt  
 and Holt, 2004. 
 
Ruth, David E.  Inventing the Public Enemy.  Chicago: The University of Chicago Press,  

1996. 
 
 
 

IOWA HISTORY 
 
Union Publishing Company (Springfield, IL.). History of Butler And Bremer Counties,  
 Iowa:  Together With ... Biographies of Representative Citizens. History of Iowa  
  Springfield, IL.: Union Publishing Company, 1883. 
 
Grawe, J.F. History of Bremer County, Iowa. Chicago: SJ Clarke Publishing Co, 1914. 
 
 
 

PRISON RECORDS 
 

 
Alice Becker (Hull), letter to J.J. Sullivan; Warden of Minnesota State Prison in  

Stillwater Minnesota, 6 October 1929. 
 
August Becker, letter to J.J. Sullivan; Warden of Minnesota State Prison in Stillwater 

 Minnesota, undated. 
 

August Becker, letter to J.J. Sullivan; Warden of Minnesota State Prison in Stillwater 
 Minnesota, undated. 
 

August Becker, letter to L.F. Utrecht; Warden of Minnesota State Prison in Stillwater 
 Minnesota, undated. 
 

August Becker, letter to J.J. Sullivan; Warden of Minnesota State Prison in Stillwater 
 Minnesota, 8 February 1931. 

 
August Becker, letter to J.J. Sullivan; Warden of Minnesota State Prison in Stillwater 

 Minnesota, 11 May 1933. 
 

August Becker, letter to Minnesota State Prison management, 21 July 1933. 
 
August Becker, letter to J.J. Sullivan; Warden of Minnesota State Prison in Stillwater 

 Minnesota, 13 November 1934. 
 



46 
 

August Becker, letter to J.J. Sullivan; Warden of Minnesota State Prison in Stillwater 
 Minnesota, 10 October 1934. 

 
August Becker, letter to Minnesota State Board of Parole, 26 July 1935. 
 
August Becker, letter to Minnesota State Prison management, 14 August 1935. 
 
 
August Becker, letter to L.F. Utrecht; Warden of Minnesota State Prison in Stillwater 

 Minnesota, 10 September 1940. 
 
Minnesota State Prison, History Sheet for Case No. 9852 August Becker, 16 August  

1929. 
 

Minnesota State Prison, Deputy Warden Examination Sheet register no. 9852, 16 August  
1929. 

 
State of Iowa Department of Justice, Reward Poster for August Becker, 15 July 1929. 
 
State of Iowa Department of Justice, Reward Poster for Roy Salman and Donald (Pat)  

Melavin, 15 July 1929. 
 
State of Minnesota, transcript of State v. August Becker, 16 August 1929.  
 
State of Minnesota Board of Control, letter to J.J. Sullivan; Warden of Minnesota State  

Prison in Stillwater Minnesota, 2 September 1931. 
 
State of Minnesota Board of Parole, Report regarding discharge, 23 September, 1942. 
 
State of Minnesota Board of Parole, Certificate of parole approval, 1 October 1940. 
 
State of Minnesota Board of Parole, Discharge Order, 7 October 1942. 
 
State of Minnesota Board of Parole, history sheet, 7 July 1935. 
 
 

 
NEWSPAPER ARTICLES 

 
“2 Jailed Bandits Confess Robbery of Gilmore Bank.” Waterloo Courier, 10 August  

1929. 
 
“August Becker Captured in Robbery of Elk River Bank.” Waverly Democrat, 15 August  

1929. 



47 
 

 
“August Becker in Idaho Penitentiary.” Waverly Democrat, 27 June 1929. 
 
“August Becker is in Custody after Minnesota Battle.” Sumner Gazette, 15 August 1929. 
 
“August Becker is Not in Idaho Penitentiary.” Waverly Democrat, 8 August 1929. 
 
“August F. Becker Dies at Home Here.” Des Moines Register, 5 November 1955. 
 
“August Becker Obtains Freedom by Clever Ruse.” Waverly Democrat, 3 January 1929. 
 
“Bank Robber is La Porte Native.” Waterloo Courier, 15 August 1929. 
 
“Becker and Pals Get Life in Pen.” Waverly Democrat, 29 August 1929. 
 
 “Becker Breaks Jail.” Waverly Democrat, 27 December 1928. 
 
“Becker Brought Back to Waverly to Face Charges,” Waterloo Courier, 10 December  
 1928. 
 
“Becker Confesses Robbery of Bank at Gilmore City.” Waterloo Courier, 13 August  

1929. 
 
“Becker Given Life Sentence.” Des Moines Register, 18 August 1929. 
 
“Becker Given Life Term for Robbery of Minnesota Bank.” Waterloo Courier, 17  
 August 1929. 
 
“Becker in Escape by Jumping from Opened Window.” Sumner Gazette, 3 January 1929. 
 
“Becker Kidnaper of Idaho Lt.-Gov., Declares Yackey.” Waterloo Courier, 26 June 

 1929. 
 
“Becker Not Captured.” Sumner Gazette, 18 July 1929. 
 
“Believe Becker Caught with Four Minnesota Bandits.” Waterloo Courier, 9 August  

1929. 
 
“Confidence Men Rob Jay Hileman of Gems and Car.” Waterloo Courier, 11 August  

1927. 
 
“Criminal Uses Minister’s Visit as Opportunity to Break Jail.” Waterloo Courier, 27  

December 1928. 
 



48 
 

“Did Becker Plan Escape or Just Grasp Opportunity?” Waverly Democrat, 10 January  
 1929. 
 
“Elk River Robber Mourns for Lost Arm Which He Says Will Never “Sock” Again.”  

Sumner Gazette, 22 August 1922. 
 
“Farmers and Business Men Friends Call on Becker in Jail at Waverly; Former  

Congressman his Attorney.” Waterloo Courier, 11 December 1928. 
 

“Find Revolver of Tin Foil in Cell Used by Becker” Sumner Gazette, 10 January 1929. 
 
“Funeral Tuesday for A.F. Becker.” Des Moines Register, 6 November 1955. 
 
“Girl Revealed as Bandit’s Wife.” Des Moines Register, 11 August 1929. 
 
“Grand Jury Returns Two Indictments.” Waverly Democrat, 26 September 1929. 
 
“Hallowell Finds August Becker in Prison in Idaho.” Sumner Gazette, 27 June 1929. 
 
“Henry J Becker in Trouble Now.” Waverly Democrat, 27 June 1929. 
 
“Hileman Robber and Kidnaper to be Brought Back.” Waterloo Courier, 8 December  
 1928. 
 
“Hold-Up Man Returned to Answer Charges.” Waverly Democrat, 8 December 1928. 
 
“Humboldt Judge Adds $2,500 to Becker’s Bonds.” Waterloo Courier, 29 June 1929. 
 
“Implicated August Becker in Gilmore City Robbery.” Waverly Democrat, 30 May 1929. 
 
“Is Charged With Aiding Brother in Escape from Jail.” Sumner Gazette, 27 June 1929. 
 
“Kidnaper.” Waterloo Courier, 8 December 1928. 
 
“Kidnaper Waits in Bremer Jail Sans Bond.” Waterloo Courier, 19 December 1928. 
 
“Man Who Caught Becker is Horse Exhibitor at C.C.” Waterloo Courier, 14 August  

1929. 
 
“Stop to Get His Pretty, Young Wife Cause of August Becker’s Capture.” Waterloo  

Courier, 10 August 1929. 
 
“Suspect in Iowa Robbery is Held.” Des Moines Register, 10 August 1929. 
 



49 
 

“Sweet to Defend Iowan Captured in Bank Robbery.” Des Moines Register, 12 August  
1929. 

 
“Trio is Indicted in Minnesota on Robbery Charge.” Des Moines Register. 14 August  

1929. 
 
“Trio Robs Bank at Gilmore City.” Waterloo Courier, 13 May 1929. 

 
“Two Minnesota Bank Robbers are Given Life Terms.” Des Moines Register, 15 August  

1929. 
 
“Van Alstine Family is Kept All Night by Robbers.” Des Moines Register, 14 May 1929. 
  



50 
 

APPENDIX 

GUS’S  LIFE 

 

Figure 1 - The Becker family circa 1925 
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Figure 2 – August circa 1910 
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Figure 3 – August circa 1916  
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Figure 4 – August circa 1925 
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Figure 5 – Newspaper clipping given to the author by August’s great nephew from the 

collection of his mother, Alma Warneke, August’s sister 
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Figure 6 – Dayton Township 1885 census 
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Figure 7 – August Becker Wanted Poster 
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Figure 8 – Wanted poster for Roy Salman and Donald Melavin 
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Figure 9 – August Becker trial transcript 8/16/29 Page 1  
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Figure 10 – August Becker trial transcript 8/16/29 page 2  
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Figure 11 – August Becker trial transcript 8/16/29 page 3  
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Figure 12 – August Becker trial transcript 8/16/29 page 4 
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Figure 13 – August Becker trial transcript 8/16/29 page 5 
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Figure 14 – Deputy Warden Examination Sheet for August Becker 8/16/29 Page 1
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Figure 15 – Deputy Warden Examination Sheet for August Becker 8/26/29 Page 2
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Figure 16 – Letter from JJ Sullivan, Warden of Stillwater Penitentiary and Arthur 

Giddings, Minnesota state judge 1929 
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Figure 17 – Letter from State of Iowa Dept of Justice to Stillwater Prison 8/28/29 

  



67 
 

 

Figure 18 – State of Minnesota History Sheet for August Becker Page 1 
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Figure 19 – State of Minnesota History Sheet for August Becker Page 2  
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Figure 20 – Letter from August to prison warden, 1929 page 1  
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Figure 21 - Letter from August to prison warden, 1929 page 2  
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Figure 22 – letter from Alice Hull to prison warden, 1929 Page 1 
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Figure 23– letter from Alice Hull to prison warden, 1929 page 2 
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Figure 24 – Letter from Alice Becker (Hull) to warden, 1929 Page 1 
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Figure 25 – Letter from Alice Becker (Hull) to warden, 1929 Page 2 
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Figure 26 – Letter from August Becker to warden, 1933  
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Figure 27 – Letters from deputy warden to warden, 1934  
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Figure 28 – Interview of August Becker by the State Board of Parole, 1935 
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Figure 29 – Letter from August Becker to Parole Board, 1935 Page 1  
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Figure 30 – Letter from August Becker to Parole Board, 1935 Page 2 
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Figure 31 – Letter from the Warden to the State Board of Control, 1935 
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Figure 32 – Note from August Becker to prison censor, 1937 
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Figure 33 – Letter from August Becker to Helen Gable, 1937  
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Figure 34 – Letter from August Becker to warden, 1938  
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Figure 35 – Letter from August Becker to warden, 1939 
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Figure 36 – State Board of Parole file page 1, 1940  
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Figure 37 – State Board of Parole file page 2, 1940  
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Figure 38 – State Board of Parole file page 3, 1940  
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Figure 39 – State Board of Parole file page 4, 1940 
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Figure 40 – State of Minnesota Parole Agreement for August Becker  
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Figure 41 – Letter from August Becker to warden, 1942 
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Figure 42 – Obituary for August Becker from the Des Moines Register, 1955 
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